# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUG 19 2015

	) Frank A. McGuire Clerk
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF	) NoDeputy
CALIFORNIA	) Deputy
Petitioner,	) Court of Appeal No. ) E061754
v.	)
	) Related Death
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF	) Penalty Appeal
CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF	) <b>Pending</b> No. S137307
SAN BERNARDINO,	)
	)
Respondent,	, )
1100p 02240,	)
JOHNNY MORALES,	)
,	)
Real Party in Interest.	)
	<del></del> /

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

After **Published** Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Issuing Peremptory Writ of Mandate, Filed July 15, 2015

MICHAEL J. HERSEK
State Public Defender
BARRY P. HELFT, State Bar No. 85659

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does current law create such a clear and present legal duty or rule that a trial court categorically acts outside its jurisdiction whenever it exercises its discretion in a capital case to grant a motion to preserve evidence, brought after it has imposed a death judgment but while appeal therefrom is pending? Assuming there is no such rule or duty preventing trial courts from so acting, should this Court affirmatively and explicitly recognize that current law empowers a trial court to issue such orders as a matter of both law and public policy?

#### **REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

This opinion is the first published decision addressing a trial court's jurisdiction to issue evidence preservation orders after it imposes judgment, but before the judgment's finality on appeal, since significant developments in the law and policies governing postconviction practice and procedure in capital cases over the last 17 years. In granting the People's petition for writ of mandamus to vacate such an order in this case, the appellate court simply ignored those developments in holding that this Court's decades-old decisions in *People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179 and People v. Johnson (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183, reflect a clear and current rule of law that categorically forbids trial courts from granting nonstatutory postjudgment motions – including but not limited to evidence preservation motions – regardless of whether finality of the judgment is stayed pending appeal and regardless of the purpose or effect of the motion. The question of whether trial courts have jurisdiction to issue evidence preservation orders after a death judgment is imposed and is pending on appeal, made in anticipation of the appointment of habeas corpus counsel who has the exclusive authority to obtain evidence relevant to habeas corpus

investigation through discovery under Penal Code section 1054.9 and other means, is an enormously important and recurring one. It exists during every capital appeal when the defendant has not yet been afforded his right to habeas corpus counsel. Under current practice in which habeas corpus counsel typically is *not* timely appointed in accord with this Court's policies, this means that the question arises during most death penalty appeals.

The Court's failure to grant review and recognize not only that there is no clear and present rule of law depriving trial courts of such jurisdiction (contrary to the appellate court's reasoning), but also that trial courts in fact enjoy such jurisdiction, will have potentially severe and devastating consequences to death-sentenced defendants. The state's failure to appoint capital habeas counsel in a timely manner together with the inability of capital appellate counsel to ensure the preservation of vital evidence until habeas counsel is appointed creates a very real and present danger that critical evidence will be lost or destroyed before their clients' habeas corpus rights are finally honored and thereby strike a devastating blow to those rights, the interests of justice, and the state's own independent interest in the reliability of its death judgments. According to the appellate court in this case, only this Court can provide a mechanism by which to avoid those consequences: as the presiding justice remarked at oral argument, appellate "counsel is asking us to create a rule here that really should be addressed by the Supreme Court, it really is a problem of their creation . . . I recognize that everyone wants us to create that rule here but it just strikes me that it's better created in front of the folks who created the problem. I always believe in someone cleaning up their own mess." (App. C, p. 7, italics added.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 12, 2005, the Superior Court of San Bernardino County, the Honorable Ingrid Uhler Presiding, entered a judgment of death against Johnny Morales, real party in interest in the mandamus proceedings before the appellate court. Thereafter, the Office of the State Public Defender was appointed to represent Morales on his automatic appeal from that judgment before this Court, which is currently pending. (No. S137307.) Habeas corpus counsel has yet to be appointed. (See Gov't Code, §§ 68662, 68663, 15421; Supreme Court Policies Regarding Cases Arising from Judgments of Death, policy 3, std. 2-1.)

Pursuant to the duty this Court has imposed upon appellate counsel to preserve evidence of potential relevance to habeas corpus investigation until habeas counsel is appointed (Supreme Ct. Policies, policy 3, std. 1-1; *Marks v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 176, 184), Morales's appellate counsel moved the trial court for an order to various local agencies to *preserve* (not produce) such evidence ("preservation motion"). (Real Party Morales's Opposition to People's petition for writ of mandate, Exhibits A, C ["Opposition"].)<sup>1</sup> Over the District Attorney's written and oral objections (Opposition, Exhibit B), the trial court granted the motion and signed the evidence preservation order on July 9, 2014. (Opposition, Exhibits E, pp. 112-116, & F; see also Opposition, Exhibit C).

On August 20, 2014, the Attorney General, on behalf of the People, filed in the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division

The motion was brought during the postjudgment superior court proceedings to correct, complete and certify the record on appeal, which remain pending in that court. (Opposition, pp. 1-2; see also Supreme Court docket in Case No. S137307.)

Two, a petition for a writ of mandamus to vacate the trial court's preservation order. On September 4, 2014, the appellate court invited Morales, as real party in interest, to file a response to the petition. On October 21, 2014, Morales filed an opposition to the petition. (Opposition, p. 1.) Although petitioner-People did not reply to that opposition, on November 18, 2014, the appellate court issued an order to show cause why the petition should not be granted, permitting Morales to elect to stand on his opposition. On December 10, 2014, Morales notified the appellate court and petitioner in writing that he elected to stand on his opposition given the petitioner's failure to reply to it and address the points and authorities raised therein.

On March 4, 2015, the appellate court issued a tentative written opinion granting the petition on the ground that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to grant the preservation motion, but permitting Morales on request to present oral argument before adopting the opinion as final. On July 7, 2015, at Morales's request, the parties presented oral argument in which his appellate counsel pressed the appellate court to deny the petition based on authorities he cited in his pleadings but which were omitted from the appellate court's tentative opinion. (App. C, pp. 2-4.) On July 15, 2015, the appellate court adopted its tentative opinion in full, without modification, as its final, unpublished opinion. (App. A.) On July 31, 2015, the appellate court granted the People's request to publish its opinion. (App. B; see also *People v. Superior Court (Morales)* (2015) \_\_\_\_\_

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO MAKE CLEAR
THAT A TRIAL JUDGE IN A CAPITAL CASE HAS
JURISDICTION TO GRANT A MOTION TO PRESERVE
EVIDENCE POTENTIALLY RELEVANT TO HABEAS CORPUS
INVESTIGATION IN ANTICIPATION OF THE APPOINTMENT
OF HABEAS CORPUS COUNSEL WHO CAN CONDUCT THAT
INVESTIGATION AND RELATED DISCOVERY PROCEEDINGS
UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 1054.9

# A. Summary of The Appellate Court's Published Opinion Granting the People's Petition for Writ of Mandate

Because the appellate court's published opinion was issued on the People's petition for writ of mandamus, Code of Civil Procedure section 1085 governed; under that statute, the essential question for the appellate court to resolve was whether the trial court had a "clear, present . . . duty" (*People v. Picklesimer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 330, 340) – or put another way, whether there existed a "clear case to compel" the trial court (*Perrin v. Honeycutt* (1904) 144 Cal. 87, 90; accord, 300 DeHaro Street Investors v. Dept. of Housing and Community Development (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1240, 1255) – to deny Morales's motion for a preservation order for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The appellate court answered this question in the affirmative based primarily on this Court's decisions in *People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179 ("Gonzalez") and *People v. Johnson* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183 ("Johnson").

In *Gonzalez*, this Court held that defendants had no right to, and trial courts lacked jurisdiction to grant, discovery after judgment is imposed and before the filing of a petition for writ of habeas corpus and a finding that it states a prima facie case for relief. (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at pp. 1260-1261; App. A, p. 7.) In *Johnson*, this Court followed *Gonzalez* to hold that because there is no right to postjudgment pre-petition discovery, there is

likewise no right, and trial courts have no jurisdiction to grant, "anticipatory postjudgment discovery" motions to *preserve* evidence in anticipation of (then) non-existent discovery. (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 1257-1258.)

The appellate court here recognized that *Gonzalez* has been abrogated by the 2003 enactment of Penal Code section 1054.9, which grants capital (and LWOP) defendants the right to postjudgment prepetition discovery, but reasoned it has been abrogated only "to the extent covered by the statute." (App. A, p. 8, see also *In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 691.) Otherwise, *Gonzalez*, as well as *Johnson* which followed it, remain intact: in the appellate court's view, both clearly stand for the proposition that trial courts have no jurisdiction to grant nonstatutory motions after they have imposed judgment because "there is simply no pending case or proceeding to which the motion can attach," regardless of whether appeal from the judgment is pending or the purpose and effect of the order granting the motion. (App. A, pp. 7-10.) Also according to the appellate court here, this Court recently "confirmed" that rule in *People v. Picklesimer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 330, 337 ("*Picklesimer*"). (App. A, p. 8.)

In reaching this holding, the appellate court did not even cite – much less address – the authorities Morales cited in his pleadings and oral argument before that court and discussed in detail below, which eroded the precedential value of *Gonzalez* and *Johnson*; limited them to postjudgment discovery and "anticipatory discovery" motions brought under then-existing discovery law; support a trial court's subject matter jurisdiction to grant postjudgment motions while finality of the judgment is stayed pending appeal and which do not alter that judgment; and make clear that the rule reflected in *Picklesimer* has no bearing on such motions. For the reasons

explained below, the appellate court's published opinion is fundamentally flawed and reveals the need for this Court to grant review.

B. The Court of Appeal Granted the People's Petition for Writ of Mandamus in Violation of a Trial Court's Discretionary Right to Entertain Postjudgment Motions While Appeal is Pending, So Long as They Do Not Alter the Judgment Being Appealed From

The appellate court's reliance on *Picklesimer*, *supra*, to support its grant of mandamus reveals that it has conflated two distinct concepts: (1) a trial court's jurisdiction following a true "final" judgment – i.e., judgment has not only been imposed in the trial court but has also been rendered final on appeal and remittitur has issued; and (2) a trial court's jurisdiction after it has imposed judgment but while the finality of that judgment has been stayed pending appeal. (See *Henderson v. Drake* (1954) 54 Cal.2d 1, 4; Code Civ. Proc., §§ 577, 916.) *Picklesimer* involved the former and reflects the rule that a trial court is ordinarily without jurisdiction in that context because all of the trial court proceedings and the resulting judgment are final. (*Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 337-338; Opposition, pp. 24-31; App. C, p. 4.) However, very different rules govern a trial court's jurisdiction after it has imposed judgment but while appeal is pending therefrom. (Opposition, pp. 24-31; App. C, pp. 2-4.)

Code of Civil Procedure section 916 explicitly provides that the filing of a notice of appeal after imposition of judgment in the trial court constitutes only a *partial* divestment of the trial court's inherent jurisdiction during the pendency of appeal. It provides in relevant part: "the perfecting of an appeal *stays* proceedings in the trial court upon the judgment or order appealed from or upon the matters embraced therein or affected thereby, including enforcement of the judgment or order, *but the trial court may* 

proceed upon any other matter embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment or order." (Code Civ. Proc., § 916, italics added.)

As this Court explained in its post-Gonzalez and Johnson decision in Townsel v. Superior Court (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1084 ("Townsel"), under Code of Civil Procedure section 916, "our acquisition of appellate jurisdiction does not . . . divest the trial court of all power to act." (Id. at pp. 1089-1090.) Rather, trial courts retain jurisdiction to issue orders that do not alter the judgment being appealed from and that go to matters "collateral or supplemental to the questions involved on the appeal" [citation] . . . 'connected with the criminal proceeding before [the trial court].' [Citation]." (Id., at p. 1090.)

It is true that the *Gonzalez* and *Johnson* decisions involved motions – a discovery motion in *Gonzalez* and an "anticipatory discovery" motion to preserve evidence in *Johnson* – brought after judgment was imposed in the trial court but while appeal was still pending. However, this Court made clear in *Townsel*, *supra*, that those cases simply cannot be read for a proposition that is inconsistent with Code of Civil Procedure section 916. (Opposition, pp. 24-30; App. C, pp. 2-4.)

In *Townsel*, as in this case, during capital postjudgment record correction and certification proceedings before the trial court while appeal was pending, the trial court issued a nonstatutory (jury no-contact) order. (*Townsel*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1086-1088.) In stark contrast to the People's position in these proceedings, the People there defended the trial court's jurisdiction to issue that order under Code of Civil Procedure section 916 because it was "connected" to the criminal proceedings resulting in the judgment being appealed from and did not alter that judgment. (*Id.* at pp. 1089-1090.) This Court agreed and in so doing

explicitly rejected the defendant's argument that its earlier decision in *Johnson*, *supra*, established that trial courts are without jurisdiction to grant nonstatutory motions after imposition of the judgment, notwithstanding section 916. (*Id.* at pp. 1089-1091.) The Court explicitly held that *Johnson* "did not purport to override section 916(a)" and explained that *Johnson*'s holding was limited to the absence of a right to "discovery" (under then-existing discovery law). (*Ibid.*) The same reasoning applies equally to *Gonzalez*, on which – as the appellate court here emphasized – *Johnson* was based. (App. A, pp. 7-8.)

Of course, in these mandamus proceedings, the People as petitioner bore the burden of establishing a *clear* and present rule of law compelling the trial court to deny the evidence preservation motion for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1085; Picklesimer, supra, 48 Cal.4th at p. 340; Perrin v. Honeycutt, supra, 144 Cal. at p. 90; California Correctional Peace Officers Assn. v. State Personnel Bd. (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1133, 1153-1155.) The appellate court implicitly found that the People had satisfied this burden by holding that Johnson, Gonzalez, and Picklesimer "forbid[] trial courts from ruling on . . . 'free-floating' motions" after they have imposed judgment because "there is simply no pending case or proceeding to which the motion can attach" – regardless of whether appeal from the judgment is pending and regardless of the purpose and effect of the order granting the motion. (App. A, pp. 8-10.) But that is precisely the reading of *Johnson* (and *Gonzalez*) and the proposition the *Townsel* Court expressly rejected as being inconsistent with Code of Civil Procedure section 916. (Opposition, pp. 24-30; App. C, pp. 2-4.) Remarkably, in citing Johnson and Gonzalez for that very proposition, the appellate court

simply ignored *Townsel* and section 916. (See App. A.)<sup>2</sup> Similarly, the appellate court simply ignored the critical distinction – discussed above and as Morales emphasized in his written and oral arguments below – between the jurisdictional rule reflected in *Picklesimer* and that in section 916 and *Townsel*. (Opposition, pp. 24-31; App. C, p. 4.)<sup>3</sup>

Certainly, in the face of Code of Civil Procedure section 916 and *Townsel*, it is far from "clear" under current law that trial courts have no jurisdiction to grant postjudgment motions, including evidence preservation motions, brought while appeal is pending and that do not alter the judgment being appealed from.<sup>4</sup> Indeed, given that the People successfully argued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Likewise, the People, as the burden bearing party on mandamus, did not acknowledge these authorities in its petition for writ of mandamus and elected to file no reply to Morales's reliance thereon in his opposition. (Opposition, pp. 20, 32, fn. 7.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Indeed, it was in large part *because* the appellate court's tentative opinion did not acknowledge these authorities that Morales requested oral argument in order to press the court to do so. Although appellate counsel again argued those authorities before the court orally, and two of the justices each asked a single question of the Deputy Attorney General about Code of Civil Procedure section 916 and this Court's *Townsel* decision, those authorities remain omitted from the court's published final opinion. (App. C, pp. 2-6.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Indeed, trial courts frequently grant evidence preservation motions in this procedural posture under current law, which demonstrates the absence of any clear and present rule depriving courts of subject matter jurisdiction to do so. (See, e.g., *People v. Robert Ward Frazier*, Contra Costa County Superior Court No. 041700-6, December 6, 2013 order granting postjudgment motion to preserve evidence made while automatic appeal pending in No. S148863; *People v. Robert James Acremant*, Tulare County Superior Court No. 31734, August 3, 2011order while automatic appeal pending in No. S0110804; *People v. Larry Kusuth Hazlett, Jr.*, Kern (continued...)

that a trial court does have such jurisdiction in *Townsel*, it is axiomatic that the trial judge's exercise of that very jurisdiction to grant the evidence preservation motion in this case did not violate any *clear* rule of law to the contrary and therefore that the People did not and could not satisfy their burden in these proceedings. The appellate court's published opinion is thus inconsistent with this Court's precedents and the fundamental requirements for mandamus relief. This Court cannot allow it to stand.

Of course, in the absence of clear and present law on the question of whether trial courts have jurisdiction to grant evidence preservation motions in this procedural context, settling that important and recurring issue and announcing a clear rule provides further reason for this Court to grant review.

C. Trial Courts Have the Inherent Authority to Use Any Nonstatutory Means or Process They Deem Necessary to Ensure the Successful Exercise of Their Statutory Jurisdiction

The 2003 enactment of Penal Code section 1054.9, granting defendants sentenced to death (or LWOP) the right to postjudgment prepetition discovery "as an aid in preparing the [habeas corpus] petition," abrogated the contrary holdings of *Gonzalez* and *Johnson*. (See *In re* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>(...continued)

County Superior Court No. BF100925A, June 22, 2004 and October 6, 2011 orders while automatic appeal pending in No. S126387); *People v. Carlos Marvin Argueta*, Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BA261252, November 7, 2014, order while automatic appeal pending in No. S150524); *People v. Louis Mitchell, Jr.*, San Bernardino County Superior Court No. FSB051580, June 22, 2012 order while automatic appeal pending in No. S147335.)

Copies of those orders and a motion for judicial notice thereof pursuant to Evidence Code sections 452(c) & (d) and 459, accompany this petition.

Steele, supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 691-692 [trial court is appropriate forum for enforcement of this right, even in capital cases where petition is filed in Supreme Court and not trial court].) While the enactment of this statute alone did not create jurisdiction in the trial court to grant evidence preservation motions, it did trigger application of other legal principles that did not apply at the time of the *Johnson* and *Gonzalez* decisions and which extend the trial court's jurisdiction to evidence preservation orders. (Opposition, pp. 25-33.)

Code of Civil Procedure section 187 provides in relevant part: "When jurisdiction is, . . . by any . . . statute, conferred on a Court or judicial officer, all the means necessary to carry it into effect are also given; and in the exercise of this jurisdiction, if the course of proceeding be not specifically pointed out by this Code or the statute, any suitable process or mode of proceeding may be adopted which may appear most conformable to the spirit of this code." This statute is consistent with the long-standing rule that, in the absence of explicit legislation, "[a] court set up by the [California] Constitution has within it the power of self-preservation, indeed, the power to remove all obstructions to its successful and convenient operation." (Millholen v. Riley (1930) 211 Cal. 29, 33-34; accord, e.g., People v. Superior Court (Laff) (2001) 25 Cal.4th 703, 735.)

The *Townsel* decision implicitly reflects these principles. There, the challenged postjudgment jury no-contact order was not explicitly authorized by a specific statute. (*Townsel*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1090-1091.) However, there was a specific statute conferring postjudgment jurisdiction on the trial court to impose sanctions for "unreasonable" postjudgment juror contact. (*Id.* at p. 1091.) In addition to holding that the trial court had jurisdiction to issue the nonstatutory jury no-contact order under Code of

Civil Procedure section 916, this Court held that the order served and facilitated the court's ability to exercise its statutory jurisdiction over unreasonable juror contact and for that reason, as well, was an appropriate exercise of the court's jurisdiction. (*Ibid.*)

Applying the foregoing principles here, "jurisdiction is . . . conferred" on the trial court to litigate postjudgment pre-petition discovery by Penal Code section 1054.9 and this Court's construction thereof in *In re Steele*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 691-692, within the meaning of Code Civil Procedure, § 187. Hence, the trial court has the inherent authority to utilize "all the means necessary to carry [its jurisdiction under section 1054.9] into effect . . . . [even] if the course of proceeding be not specifically pointed out by" section 1054.9 or other statutes. (Code Civ. Proc., § 187, italics added.)

As the trial judge recognized in granting the preservation motion, she had jurisdiction, or the "authority now," to order discovery. (Opposition, p. 8; Opposition Exhibit D, p. 114.) But as more fully discussed in part D, *post*, like more than half of the men and women on death row in this state, Morales has been deprived of his ability to invoke the trial court's discovery jurisdiction "now" because he has not yet been afforded his right to the timely appointment of habeas counsel, who has the exclusive authority to conduct factual investigation and obtain relevant evidence through discovery (and other means) as an aid in the preparation of his habeas corpus petition.

As this Court has recognized, there is a current crisis in the Court's ability to secure habeas corpus counsel in capital cases, resulting in many if not most death row inmates waiting many years – some decades – for their rights to habeas corpus counsel, and their concomitant right to the tools

necessary to prepare their habeas petitions, to be honored. (In re Morgan (2010) 50 Cal.4th 932, 938-939; In re Jimenez (2010) 50 Cal.4th 951, 955, 958; Gov. Code, § 68662; Supreme Court Policies, policy 3, stds. 2-1, 1.1-1.) The Court has further recognized that its failure to fulfill its obligations in this regard can carry significant threats to the rights of men and women sentenced to death, including the loss or destruction of critical evidence before habeas corpus counsel is finally appointed and can obtain it. (In re Jimenez, supra, at pp. 955, 958.) Indeed, given the People's apparent view – as reflected by their opposition in the trial court and their petition in the appellate court – that neither it nor any of the other local agencies to whom the preservation order was directed has a duty to preserve any evidence until such time that the trial court actually orders its *production* through discovery (or other means) (Opposition, pp. 23-24, 30-32), chilling the trial court's ability to order preservation of evidence at least until such time as habeas corpus counsel is appointed and can initiate discovery could render Penal Code section 1054.9 and the court's jurisdiction under that statute meaningless.

As Morales argued below, this danger is a potential "obstruction[]" to the court's "successful operation" under Penal Code section 1054.9, which its inherent powers of self-preservation authorize it to remove. (Millholen v. Riley, supra, 211 Cal. 29, 33-34; accord, People v. Superior Court (Laff), supra, 25 Cal.4th 703, 735.) An evidence preservation order is a "suitable" "means" or "process or mode" to protect the trial court's jurisdiction under Penal Code section 1054.9 and ensure it is given "effect," even though that "course of proceeding be not specifically pointed out by" that statute or another. (Code Civ. Proc. ,§ 187.) Like the nonstatutory postjudgment order in Townsel that served and facilitated the trial court's

jurisdiction under another statute on a related subject and thus constituted an appropriate exercise of jurisdiction, a nonstatutory preservation order serves and facilitates the trial court's jurisdiction under Penal Code section 1054.9 and thus amounts to an appropriate exercise of jurisdiction. (*Townsel*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1090-1091; see Opposition, pp. 7-8, 30-34; App. C, pp. 2-4.) The trial judge effectively agreed, reasoning that "if ultimately the trial court has authority now for further discovery, that obviously if we didn't also have authority to preserve, that there may be nothing to discover." (Opposition, p. 8; Opposition, Exhibit D, p. 114.)

However, the appellate court simply ignored these principles in its published opinion. The court observed: "[W]e have no quarrel with Morales's description of the delays in the death penalty review process. However, the issue is not whether the procedure sought by Morales is *desirable*, but whether it is authorized by law." (App. A., p. 4, italics added.) In resolving that issue in the negative, however, the court did not cite or address the foregoing authorities under which Morales argued that the procedure is not merely "desirable," *but also* "authorized by law," as reflected therein. (See App. A.)

Likewise, the appellate court ignored that even in *Johnson*, this Court recognized that superior courts "may well have the inherent authority to issue an order for the preservation" of their own court records and documents maintained by their ministerial officers, after imposition of judgment. (*Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1258, citing Code Civ. Proc., § 128, subd. (a) [court has inherent authority to control acts of its "ministerial officers" in "furtherance of justice"]; Opposition, pp. 8-10, 33-34; see App. A.) The trial court's order here was directed in large part to San Bernardino County Superior Court records, other materials in the possession of the

court's ministerial officers, and records to which Morales would otherwise be entitled independent of discovery through the prosecution, based on a particularized showing of potential relevance to habeas corpus investigation. (Opposition, pp. 8-10, 33-34; Opposition Exhibits A, C, D, F.) Indeed, the permanent preservation of many of those records are already permitted or required by statute so long as they are identified. (Gov. Code, § 68152, subd. (c)(1)) [court records of "capital felony" proceedings "in which the defendant is sentenced to death" must be retained permanently, "including records of the cases of any codefendants and any related cases, regardless of disposition" when so identified].) Thus, the court's order was not only consistent with its jurisdiction under Code of Civil Procedure section 916, but also with the authority to preserve materials recognized by this Court in Johnson itself as well as by the Legislature. Certainly viewed in the context of the prerequisites for mandamus relief, the trial court's order in this regard did not constitute such a break with "clear" law as to justify granting the People's petition for extraordinary relief.

Yet the appellate court declined to address any of these authorities and principles in its published opinion. Instead, it effectively punted to this Court the question of a trial court's authority to order preservation of any material. (See App. A, p. 10.) As the acting presiding justice remarked at oral argument, "counsel is asking us to create a rule here that really should be addressed by the Supreme Court . . . ." (App. C, p. 6.) But under the very authorities the appellate court ignored, it was clear that Morales was *not* asking the court to "create a rule;" rather, he was asking the court to apply current law in recognizing a rule that already exists. At the very least, he was insisting that the court hold the People to their burden – as the petitioner seeking mandamus relief – of establishing a *clear* rule of law to

the contrary. This the court failed to do.

Given the importance of the essential question of a trial court's authority to issue postjudgment preservation orders in capital cases under the circumstances presented here, its recurring nature in at least half of all capital cases in the same procedural posture, the appellate court's failure to resolve the critical issues presented and its view that only this Court can recognize a trial court's authority to order evidence preservation, this Court should grant review in order to do so.

D. The Court Should Grant Review to Make Clear That Preservation Motions Play an Important Part in Effectuating the Policies and Procedures It Has Developed For Capital Postconviction Practice and Protecting the Interests of Justice Section 1054.9 Was Enacted to Serve

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