SUPREME COURT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner and Respondent.

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY,

Respondent.

JOHNNY MORALES,

Real Party in Interest and Petitioner. Case No. S228642

SUPREME COUPT FILED

SEP 08 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E061754 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVA 015456 The Honorable Ingrid Uhler, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH ALREADY SETTLED LAW

The Court of Appeal's decision is consistent with settled law. After judgment has been pronounced and absent statutory authority, a trial court lacks jurisdiction to issue an order for discovery or for preservation of evidence. (People v. Johnson, supra, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 1256-1258; People v. Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257.) This is because "[a]s with any other motion, a discovery motion is not an independent right or remedy. It is ancillary to an ongoing action or proceeding. After the judgment has become final, there is nothing pending in the trial court to which a discovery motion may attach." (Gonzalez, at p. 1257, quoting People v. Ainsworth (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 247, 251.) Penal Code section 1054.9 provides statutory authority for a defendant sentenced to death or life without the possibility of parole to seek limited discovery "[u]pon the prosecution of a postconviction writ of habeas corpus " (Pen. Code, § 1054.9, subd. (a); see also In re Steele (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 691 [construing statute to provide defendants a right to seek certain discovery while preparing to file a habeas petition as well as after such petition has been filed].) However, the statute goes no further than that; in particular, it "imposes no preservation duties that do not otherwise exist." (Steele, at p. 695.) Because there is no statutory authority for the postjudgment preservation order issued in this case, the Court of Appeal's decision was compelled by Johnson and Gonzalez.

Morales argues the preservation order is authorized or, at least, that authorization is suggested by, sections 187 and 916 of the Code of Civil Procedure and this Court's opinion in *Townsel v. Superior Court* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1084. (Petn. for Rev., at pp. 8-12.) Morales misconstrues these authorities.

Code of Civil Procedure section 187 "grants every court all means necessary to carry its jurisdiction into effect." (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257.) Code of Civil Procedure section 916 provides, in relevant part, that "the perfecting of an appeal stays proceedings in the trial court upon the judgment or order appealed from or upon the matters embraced therein or affected thereby, including enforcement of the judgment or order, but the trial court may proceed upon any other matter embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment or order." "Thus, during the pendency of an appeal (including, we assume, an appeal in a capital case), the trial court 'retains certain powers over the parties and incidental aspects of the cause...." (*Townsel v. Superior Court, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1089-1090, quoting *People v. Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1257.)

In *Townsel v. Superior Court*, 20 Cal.4th 1084, a capital case, the trial court issued a no-contact order respecting jurors while presiding over proceedings to correct the record on appeal. (*Id.* at p. 1090.) This Court held that the trial court had authority to issue the order because the order addressed "other matter[s] embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment," within the meaning of section 916 of the Code of Civil Procedure. (*Ibid.*)

This Court in *Townsel* did not, however, overrule the holding in *Johnson* that "the process of record correction is not a 'criminal proceeding' sufficient to support orders relating to *discovery*"; rather, this Court rejected Townsel's argument that this holding in *Johnson* was

apposite to the issue in that case. (*Townsel v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 1090.) To be sure, the underlying court order at issue in *Johnson* directed the preservation of evidence (*People v. Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1256), whereas the underlying order at issue in *Townsel* directed the defense not to contact jurors without prior court approval (*Townsel*, at p. 1088).

Moreover, this Court in *Johnson* expressly rejected the notion that Code of Civil Procedure section 916 conferred jurisdiction to issue postconviction orders related to discovery. (*People v. Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1256-1258.) Similarly, this Court in *Gonzalez* rejected the notion that Code of Civil Procedure section 187 provided jurisdiction to issue postconviction discovery orders because, "[b]y its terms, . . . section 187 operates only where some other provision of law confers judicial authority *in the first instance*." (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257, italics in original.)

Morales also argues that the trial court *should* have jurisdiction under the above statutes to issue preservation orders such as the one at issue in this case because California's habeas corpus review system in capital cases is marked by excessive delay in the appointment of habeas counsel, and such jurisdiction is, therefore, necessary to protect his ability to receive meaningful habeas corpus review. (Petn. for Rev., at pp. 18-23.) This Court found a similar suggestion was unpersuasive in *People v. Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at page 1258—a finding that is only strengthened by the subsequent enactment of Penal Code section 1054.9, which conferred a statutory right to obtain limited discovery during the preparation of a habeas corpus petition, a right defendants did not have when *Johnson* was decided. In any event, a trial court's direct jurisdiction over a criminal case that is pending on appeal "is strictly limited by statute" (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257), and this Court is not free to confer jurisdiction where the

Legislature has chosen not to (see *California Fed. Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, 349 ["We may not, under the guise of construction, rewrite the law or give the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used."]). Morales's argument here is grounded in policy, not law, and therefore is appropriately addressed to the Legislature, not this Court.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the People respectfully request that the petition be denied.